
 
 
 

 
Dispatched: 20.03.12 

 

 
ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS COMMITTEE 

 
27 March 2012 at 5.00 pm 

 
CONFERENCE ROOM, ARGYLE ROAD, SEVENOAKS 

 

AGENDA 

 

Membership: 

 
Chairman: Cllr. Fleming 

 
 

Cllrs: Mrs. Bayley, Bosley, Brookbank, Mrs. Clark, Mrs. Davison, Grint, Mrs. Hunter, 

Ms. Lowe and Mrs. Sargeant 

 

 
 
Apologies for absence 

 

1. Declarations of Interest  

 

2. Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 27 October 2011 (Pages 1 - 24) 

 

3. Community Governance Review (Pages 25 - 212) 

 

4. Polling Districts and Polling Places Review (Pages 213 - 216) 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public. 

 

To assist in the speedy and efficient despatch of business, Members wishing to obtain 

factual information on items included on the Agenda are asked to enquire of the 

appropriate Director or Contact Officer named on a report prior to the day of the meeting. 

 

Should you require a copy of this agenda or any of the reports listed on it in another format 

please do not hesitate to contact the Democratic Services Team as set out below. 

 

For any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact: 

 
The Democratic Services Team (01732 227241) 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS COMMITTEE 

Minutes of a meeting of the Electoral Arrangements Committee held on 
27 October 2011 commencing at 7.00 p.m. 

Present: Cllr. Fleming  (Chairman) 

  Cllr. Mrs Hunter (Vice-Chairman) 

Cllrs. Mrs Bayley, Bosley, Brookbank, Mrs. Davison, Ms Lowe and Mrs 
Sargeant. 

Apologies: Cllr. Mrs. Clark. 

 

1. TO ELECT A CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE FOR THE ENSUING 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 

Resolved: That Cllr. Fleming be appointed Chairman of the Committee for 
the ensuing Municipal Year. 

2. TO ELECT A VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE FOR THE ENSUING 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 

Resolved:  That Cllr. Mrs. Hunter be appointed Vice-Chairman of the 
Committee for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None. 

4. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 

Resolved: That the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 2 
September 2010 be approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record. 

5. POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES REVIEW 2011 

The Electoral Services Manager presented a report which advised the 
Committee that the Council was required to carry out a review of polling 
districts and polling places at least once every four years under the Electoral 
Administration Act 2006. The last review had been completed in 2007 and a 
review therefore had to be completed by the end of December 2011. The 
requirement to divide the district into polling districts for the purposes of 
elections and to provide a polling place for every district that was easily 
accessible to all electors, including those with disabilities, was highlighted. 
The report also explained the Council’s practice of avoiding the use of school 
premises wherever possible to minimise disruption to school activities along 
with the intention that temporary stations should not be used on grounds of 
expense and that no more than 1800 electors should be allocated to a polling 
station. The Polling Districts and Polling Places Review  process was outlined 
along with the timetable for the conclusion of the review. As part of this notice 
of the review had been given as required in the regulations, the Returning 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Electoral Arrangements Committee – 27 October 2011 

2 

Officer had provided comments  

 

on the existing polling station locations and there had been public consultation 
which had invited comments from a number of organisations including parish 
councils, District and County Councillors, local political associations and all 
local government electors. This consultation period had begun on 22 August 
and ended on 7 October 2011. The responses to the consultation were 
contained in Appendix A to the report. 

The Electoral Services Manager explained that investigations had been 
carried out in six polling districts in an effort to secure permanent changes to 
existing venues and the options and recommendations in respect of each 
polling district and polling place were outlined, along with the reasons for the 
recommendations, in Appendix B to the report. Very few changes were 
proposed although it was recognised that not all locations were ideal but some 
were used due to lack of suitable alternatives or the non-availability of venues. 
It was proposed that the venues used for the 2011 elections should be 
retained with the exception of the East Hill and Knatts Valley Polling Districts 
where it was proposed to locate a double station at Woodlands Manor Golf 
Club where there were good parking facilities, and West Kingsdown (East) 
where the function room in The Portobello Inn would replace the Village Hall, 
which was no longer available. Enquiries had also been made about the 
possibility of returning to use Knole Academy East (the former Wildernesse 
School) as a polling place for Hillingdon and Wildernesse Polling Districts, 
which had not been available in 2011, and it had been confirmed that this 
venue could be used in future. It was therefore recommended that this should 
be included in the proposals contained in Appendix B to the report and the 
recommendations to be approved by the Council on 29 November 2011. The 
Electoral Services Manager stressed that the Council kept the position under 
review and that if more appropriate venues emerged in any of the polling 
districts these could be considered at any time and for this reason the review 
had not identified a need for many changes. It was accepted that polling 
arrangements in Birchwood and Kemsing West were not ideal but that these 
would be kept under review. 

Councillor Brookbank expressed his concern at the polling arrangements 
made for Birchwood Polling District at the General Election but accepted that 
the arrangements applied at the 2011 Elections, when Birchwood electors 
polled at the White Oak Bowls Centre, had been better but still wondered 
whether a temporary polling station might be an option. Members noted that 
an approach had been made to the manager of the new hotel at Birchwood as 
a possible polling location but that this had been turned down. Councillor Mrs 
Hunter offered to contact the owners, Whitbreads, at a more senior level to 
see whether they might reconsider this position.        

 Resolved: That it be recommended to the Council that  

(1) the proposed polling scheme contained in Appendix B to the report, 
as amended and attached to these minutes, be approved; and  

(2) the timetable in paragraph 9 (in relation to the next phase of the 

Agenda Item 2

Page 2



Electoral Arrangements Committee – 27 October 2011 

3 

review) be adopted.    

  

6. COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

The Electoral Services Manager advised the Committee that Government and 
Electoral Commission guidance recommended that District Councils should carry 
out a review of the boundary and electoral arrangements of the parishes within 
their areas every 10-15 years. With effect from February 2008 District Councils 
had taken on responsibility for carrying out these community governance reviews 
(formerly known as parish reviews). The last such review had been carried out in 
Sevenoaks in 1999 and it was proposed that a review should be carried out now 
both to meet the recommended timeframe and to take advantage of a small 
window of opportunity ahead of scheduled elections. The review would have to be 
completed within 12 months of the review commencing and it was proposed that 
the review should commence on 30 November and be completed by August 2012 
with the publication of the Council’s decisions in respect of parish boundaries and 
electoral arrangements. Any changes would take effect from the date of the next 
full parish council elections in May 2015. The timetable outlined in the report 
provided for widespread consultation to allow interested persons or groups the 
opportunity to input to the review including District and County Councillors, local 
parishes, known community groups and local MP’s. Proposals could relate to the 
creation, merging, grouping, altering or abolition of parishes, or relate to the name 
of a parish or to the number of councillors or warding arrangements for parishes. It 
was noted that any changes to parish boundaries would have knock-on effects for 
neighbouring parishes and would require negotiation to gain the fullest backing of 
the local community and the parishes affected. The potential impact of the West 
Kent Cold Store development was discussed and it was noted that a development 
of this size could ultimately warrant the creation of a new parish.   

 Resolved: That it be recommended to the Council that 

 (1) a community governance review be undertaken;  

(2) the terms of reference for the review set out in the Appendix to the report 
be adopted; and 

(3) the timetable for the review contained in paragraph 5 of the report be 
adopted.   

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 7.15 P.M. 

 

Chairman 

Agenda Item 2

Page 3



Electoral Arrangements Committee – 27 October 2011 

4 

 

Agenda Item 2

Page 4



1 

Review of Polling Districts, Polling Places and Polling Stations 

Proposals by Sevenoaks District Council (including amendments agreed by the Electoral 

Arrangements Committee on 27 October 2011) 

 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Ash (AA) 289 Ash Village Hall, The Street, 
Ash 

In use at least since 1974 
and well located in the 
village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Hodsoll Street & 
Ridley (AB) 

452 Hodsoll Street & Ridley Village 
Hall, Hodsoll Street 

In use at least since 1974 
and situated in the heart of 
Hodsoll Street Village 
(though some distance 
from other community off 
the Gravesend Road). 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

New Ash Green 
North West (AC) 

2127 New Ash Green Youth Centre, 
Ash Road, New Ash Green 

First used in 1981, 
replacing a mobile polling 
station situated elsewhere. 
Although located at one 
end of the polling district it 
is still close to all electors. 

2 Electors exceed 
1800 

New Ash Green 
South East (AD) 

2321 New Ash Green Village Hall, 
Centre Road, New Ash Green 

Replaced school in 1976. 
Although located to one 
end of the polling district it 
is still close to all electors. 

2 Electors exceed 
1800 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 5



 

2 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Brasted (AE) 763 Brasted Village Hall, 
High Street, Brasted 

Replaced school in 1977. 
Well located in village but 
poor parking. Tried pavilion 
at recreation ground (better 
parking) at 1997 by-
election but, overall, this 
did not find favour. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Toys Hill (AF) 371 Toys Hill Hall & Chancel 
Kitchen, Puddledock Lane, 
Toys Hill 

Venue for new polling 
district since 2003. 
Previously, part of Brasted 
polling district which meant 
a very long journey to the 
polling station. Poor access 
only marginally improved 
by setting up polling station 
in kitchen (so less steps) 
and providing hand rail. Not 
possible to install a ramp. 
Poll cards to electors state 
“Difficult access for 
disabled or infirm”. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 6



 

3 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Chevening (AG) 2350 Chevening Church Hall, 
Homedean Road, Chipstead 

In use at least since 1974. 
Located at one end of main 
body of electors in 
Chipstead and Bessels 
Green. Suggestion of 
separate polling district for 
Bessels Green did not find 
favour locally in 2002. 

2 Electors exceed 
1800 

Bough Beech (AH) 251 The Wheatsheaf at Bough 
Beech, Hever Road, Bough 
Beech 

Venue since 2009 when 
Village Hall was no longer 
available. Central to the 
community and good 
parking facilities. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Chiddingstone 
Causeway (AI) 

326 Chiddingstone Causeway 
Village Hall, Chiddingstone 
Causeway 

To one end of polling 
district but no known 
alternative in rural area. 
Ramp provided by owners. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Chiddingstone 
Hoath (AJ) 

168 The Rock Inn Public House, 
Chiddingstone Hoath 

Replaced dilapidated hall in 
1981. Access not ideal and 
site is to one end of polling 
district but no known 
alternative in rural area. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Chiddingstone 
Village (AK) 

205 Chiddingstone Primary School, 
Chiddingstone Village 

Well located. School 
prefers this arrangement to 
the alternative of adjacent 
parish hall as latter is used 
by school for meals. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 7



 

4 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Cowden (AL) 650 Cowden Memorial Hall, 
Chantlers Mead, Cowden 

Replaced school (closed 
down) in 1983. Well 
located in village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Crockenhill (AM) 1326 Crockenhill Village Hall, Stones 
Cross Road, Crockenhill 

Replaced school in 1981. 
Quite central to the village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Dunton Green 
(AN) 

1723 Dunton Green Village Hall, 
London Road, Dunton Green 

Replaced school in 1979. A 
little way away from the 
main body of electors but 
no alternatives have been 
suggested. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Marlpit Hill (AO) 1551 St. Paulinus Church Centre, 
Hillcrest Road, Edenbridge 

Replaced Men’s Club in 
1979. Well located in main 
area of electorate. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Marsh Green (AP) 358 St. John’s United Reformed 
Church, Marsh Green 

Venue for new polling 
district since review of 
Edenbridge polling 
arrangements in 1997. 
Located close to main area 
of electorate. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Pound Green (AQ) 1077 Edenbridge Sports Pavilion, 
Lingfield Road, Edenbridge 

Venue for new polling 
district since review of 
Edenbridge polling 
arrangements in 1997. 
Located at edge of main 
body of electors but not 
aware of any alternative. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 8



 

5 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Spitals Cross (AR) 1194 Fircroft Tenants & Residents 
Association, Farmstead Drive, 
Edenbridge 

Venue for new polling 
district since review of 
Edenbridge polling 
arrangements in 1997. 
Located at the heart of the 
main body of electors. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Stangrove & South 
End (AS) 

1781 Edenbridge Scout HQ, 
Station Road, Edenbridge 

New site in 2003 after 
changes to District Ward 
boundaries. Not quite 
central to elongated polling 
district. Small step access 
– purpose built ramp being 
provided. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Town (Edenbridge) 
(AT) 

880 Edenbridge W.I.Hall, 
Station Road, Edenbridge 

Replaced school (no longer 
wished to be used) in 1981. 
Quite well located within 
polling district. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Eynsford (AU) 1461 Eynsford Village Hall, 
High Street, Eynsford 

Replaced school in 1981. 
Central to village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Farningham (AV) 1088 Farningham Village Hall, 
High Street, Farningham 

In use at least since 1974 
and well located in the 
village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Fawkham (AW) 475 Fawkham Village Hall, 
Valley Road, Fawkham 

Central within Parish. Good 
parking. Replaced school in 
1977. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 9



 

6 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Halstead (AX) 1265 Halstead Pavilion, 
Station Road, Halstead 

Replaced parish hall in 
1997. Though not as 
central in village, it does 
provide better parking and 
facilities. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Hartley North (AY) 2219 Longfield & Hartley Scout HQ, 
Larkwell Lane, Hartley  

Well located within polling 
district. First used in 1987 
following boundary 
changes. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

Hartley South (AZ) 2200 All Saints Church Centre, 
Ash Road, Hartley 

Well located within polling 
district. Good parking. 
Replaced school in 1976. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

Four Elms (BA) 459 Four Elms Village Hall, 
Ide Hill Road, Four Elms 

Replaced school (no longer 
wished to be used) in 1981. 
Well located in village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Hever (BB) 503 Hever Village Hall, 
Hever Road, Hever 

Replaced school (no longer 
wished to be used) in 1981. 
Ramp provided by owners. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Hextable (BC) 3433 St. Peter’s Church Hall, 
College Road, Hextable 

In use at least since 1974. 
Very well located. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

Horton Kirby (BD) 974 Fighting Cocks Public House, 
The Street, Horton Kirby 

Replaced school in 1995. 
Electors enter via rear of 
building; disabled access 
via the bar. Quite central to 
village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 10



 

7 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

South Darenth 
(BE) 

1704 Horton Kirby & South Darenth 
Village Hall, Horton Road, 
South Darenth 

Replaced fire station (poor 
facilities) in 1981. Although 
outside village, no known 
alternative. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Kemsing East & 
Kemsing West 
(BF/BG) 

1700/1601 The St. Edith Hall, High Street, 
Kemsing 

Replaced school in 1981. 
Good facilities but situated 
at eastern end of village. 
Second polling district 
created in 1999 for the 
western end and polling 
took place at the Town 
Church, Dynes Road, but 
Town Church pulled down 
in 2000. The Dynes 
Residential Care Home 
was used on one occasion 
but is no longer available. 
Retain two polling districts 
and continue to seek 
polling place for western 
end. 

2 One polling station 
for each of the two 
polling districts 

Knockholt (BH) 989 Knockholt Village Centre, 
Main Road, Knockholt 

In use at least since 1974. 
Good parking. At edge of 
village but close to the 
main body of electors. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 11



 

8 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Leigh (BI) 1452 Leigh Small Village Hall, 
High Street, Leigh 

Replaced school (no longer 
wished to be used) in 1977. 
Ramp provided by owners. 
Located in village; some 
distance from electors in 
the communities of 
Charcott and Powdermills 
but no known alternatives 
available in these rural 
areas. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Otford (BJ) 2673 Otford Village Memorial Hall, 
High Street, Otford 

Replaced school in 1981. 
Centrally located, good 
facilities. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

Fordcombe (BK) 591 Fordcombe Village Hall, 
Fordcombe 

Replaced school (no longer 
wished to be used) in 1981. 
Well located in village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Penshurst (BL) 764 Penshurst Village Hall, 
Penshurst 

Replaced school (no longer 
wished to be used) in 1981. 
Good location in village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Riverhead (BM) 1890 Riverhead Village Hall, 
Amherst Hill, Riverhead 

Replaced school in 1979. 
Central site but no parking; 
not aware of any 
alternatives. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

Seal – 
St. Lawrence (BN) 

377 St. Lawrence Village Hall, 
Church Road, Stone Street 

New site in 1991 after 
creation of new Parish 
Ward. Well positioned in 
village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 12



 

9 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Seal (BO) 1323 Seal Village Hall, High Street, 
Seal 

Replaced school (probably 
in 1979). Quite central to 
village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Underriver (BP) 271 Underriver Village Hall, 
Carters Hill, Underriver 

Replaced school (probably 
in 1979). Situated in village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Bat & Ball (BQ) 842 Sevenoaks Community Centre, 
Otford Road, Sevenoaks 

This polling district was 
most recently altered in 
2003 as a result of the 
Periodic Electoral Review 
(PER). This polling place 
has been used since 1984; 
good parking and access 
and close to main body of 
electors. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 13



 

10 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Bradbourne (BR) 1241 Sevenoaks Town Council 
Offices, Bradbourne Vale 
Road, Sevenoaks 

Minimal change to polling 
district in 2003 following 
PER. Previous venue at a 
mobile classroom in the 
grounds of the former 
Bradbourne School (now 
Knole Academy West) was 
not suitable for voters with 
disabilities. In the absence 
of any alternative in the 
polling district, the offices of 
the Sevenoaks Town 
Council have been used 
since 2003. Whilst this 
venue is located outside 
the polling district, it is not 
much further for voters to 
travel than the former 
venue. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Greatness (BS) 1184 Greatness Club House, 
Mill Lane, Sevenoaks 

Replaced St. John 
Ambulance Hall in 1993 
(which had difficult access). 
Central to polling district.  

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

High Street 
(Sevenoaks) (BT) 

1331 The STAG Community Arts 
Centre (Plaza Suite), 
London Road, Sevenoaks 

Replaced St. Nicholas 
Parish Hall (demolished) in 
1997. Good access and 
well located within polling 
district. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 14



 

11 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Hillingdon (BU) 1295 Main Hall, Knole Academy East 
(formerly Wildernesse School), 
Seal Hollow Road, Sevenoaks 

The former Wildernesse 
School, in use at least 
since 1974. Classroom 
used, so school able to 
function. Since 2003 PER, 
situated outside polling 
district but after extensive 
consultation, agreed that 
voters should continue to 
use this venue. The school, 
now known as Knole 
Academy East, was not 
available in 2011 but has 
confirmed its availability for 
future use. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Holly Bush (BV) 1777 St. John’s C.E.P. School, 
Kennedy Gardens, Sevenoaks 

In use at least since 1981. 
School able to function. 
After 2003 PER, preferred 
option over St. John’s 
Church Hall (St. John’s 
Hill/Quakers Hall Lane). 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Kippington North 
(BW) 

1094 Christ Church United Reformed 
Church, Littlecourt Road, 
Sevenoaks 

Revised polling district in 
2003 (following PER) to 
accommodate as many 
electors as possible. Venue  
used for the first time in 
2003. Access and parking 
o.k. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 15



 

12 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Kippington South 
(BX) 

1149 Kippington Community Centre, 
Kippington Road, Sevenoaks 

Revised polling district in 
2003 (following PER) to 
accommodate as many 
electors as possible. Venue 
in use at least since 1981; 
newly built in 2004. Good 
access and parking. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Lower St. John’s 
(BY) 

881 British Red Cross Centre, 
Bradbourne Vale Road, 
Sevenoaks 

New polling district 
following 2003 PER. Venue 
in use since 2003; good 
access and parking and 
well located. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Sevenoaks 
Common (BZ) 

1458 Solefield School, Solefields 
Road, Sevenoaks 

In use at least since 1974. 
Classroom used, so school 
able to function. There are 
steps and a narrow 
entrance which makes 
access less than ideal. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Tubs Hill (CA) 1254 St. Luke’s Church Hall, 
Eardley Road, Sevenoaks 

New polling district 
following 2003 PER. Venue 
in use since 2003; good 
access and well located. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 16



 

13 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Upper St. John’s 
(CB) 

1404 United Reformed Church, 
St. John’s Road, Sevenoaks 

New polling district 
following 2003 PER. Venue 
in use since 2003; good 
access, only on-street 
parking. Located slightly to 
one side of polling district. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Wildernesse (CC) 308 Main Hall, Knole Academy East 
(formerly Wildernesse School), 
Seal Hollow Road, Sevenoaks 

The former Wildernesse 
School, now known as 
Knole Academy East, had 
been used since 1974. 
Classroom used, so school 
able to function. The 
Academy was not available 
in 2011 but has now 
confirmed availability for 
future use. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Sevenoaks Weald 
(CD) 

974 Weald Memorial Hall, Long 
Barn Road, Sevenoaks Weald 

Venue in use since 1983, 
replacing school. Centrally 
located within village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Badgers Mount 
(CE) 

537 Badgers Mount Memorial Hall, 
Orpington-By-Pass, Badgers 
Mount 

In use at least since 1974. 
Close to main body of 
voters. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Shoreham (CF) 894 Shoreham Village Hall, 
High Street, Shoreham 

Replaced school in 1977. 
Good access and well 
located. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 17



 

14 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Well Hill (CG) 215 Well Hill Mission Church, 
Well Hill 

New polling district 
following 2003 PER. Venue 
in use since 2003; 
Residents’ Association 
preferred location over 
public house alternative. 
Not the best access to the 
building or into the building 
but preferable to voters 
journeying long distances 
into Shoreham village. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Ide Hill (CH) 525 Ide Hill Village Hall 
(Wheatsheaf Room), Ide Hill 

Replaced school in 1985. 
Quite close to village; good 
parking. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Sundridge (CI) 1002 Sundridge Village Hall, 
Main Road, Sundridge 

In use at least since 1974. 
Quite central to village.  

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 18



 

15 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Birchwood (CJ) 1023 White Oak Bowls Centre, 
Garrolds Close, Swanley 

Two former venues 
(Birchwood School and 
Birchwood Public House) 
are both closed. White Oak 
Leisure Centre was used in 
2010 but was not popular. 
New hotel at Birchwood not 
available/not suitable. In 
2011, White Oak Bowls 
Centre was used; propose 
to continue this 
arrangement until a 
suitable site is found within 
the polling district.  

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Christ Church (CK) 2038 Christ Church Centre, 
Kingswood Avenue, Swanley 

Replaced school in 1981. 
Good location; separate 
polling booth provided for 
voters with disabilities so as 
to avoid steps inside the 
building. Limited on-street 
parking opposite with a two 
hour waiting restriction; 
blue badge holders can 
park outside hall.  

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

High Firs (CL) 2100 High Firs Primary School, 
Court Crescent, Swanley 

In use at least since 1981. 
Classroom used, so school 
able to function. Good 
location. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 19



 

16 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

St. Mary’s (CM) 3238 Swanley Youth Centre, 
St. Mary’s Road, Swanley 

In use since 1985. Located 
to one end of polling district 
but no known alternative 
closer to a central point. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

Swanley Lane 
(CN) 

1633 Swanley ACF Hall, 
Swanley Lane, Swanley 

In use at least since 1974. 
Located at the extremity of 
the polling district but 
convenient for voters on 
their way to the station and 
shops. Rough ground on 
approach to hall. No 
alternative within the polling 
district. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

Swanley Village 
(CO) 

342 The Lamb Inn, Swanley Village 
Road, Swanley Village 

In use since 2005. Located 
a little to one end of village, 
quite good access, some 
parking. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

White Oak (CP) 2062 White Oak Bowls Centre, 
Garrolds Close, Swanley 

In use since 1999. Quite 
well located, good access, 
parking available. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

Crockham Hill 
(CQ) 

584 Crockham Hill Village Hall, 
Crockham Hill 

In use since 1997, after 
demolition of WI Hall. 
Located close to main body 
of voters with good access 
and parking. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 20



 

17 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Westerham (CR) 2899 Westerham Hall, Quebec 
Avenue, Westerham 

In use at least since 1974 
(excepting for a few years 
during re-construction and 
because of prior bookings). 
Quite central to village, 
good access and parking. 

2 Electorate exceeds 
1800 

East Hill (CS) 266 Woodlands Manor Golf Club, 
Tinkerpot Lane, West 
Kingsdown 

New - For several years 
East Hill electors have had 
to poll at Woodlands 
Church Hall, Tinkerpot 
Lane, the same venue as 
Knatts Valley electors. As 
most electors will have to 
travel by car in order to 
vote, it is important to have 
car parking facilities and 
there are none at the 
current venue. Woodlands 
Manor Golf Club, also in 
Tinkerpot Lane, has ample 
car parking and is willing to 
accommodate a polling 
station. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 21



 

18 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

Knatts Valley (CT) 216 Woodlands Manor Golf Club, 
Tinkerpot Lane, West 
Kingsdown 

New – sensible for Knatts 
Valley electors to also 
attend these premises as 
using both the Woodlands 
Church Hall and the Golf 
Club would cause elector 
confusion. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

West Kingsdown 
East (CU) 

1205 The Portobello Inn, London 
Road, West Kingsdown 

New – West Kingsdown 
Village Hall no longer 
available. The Portobello 
Inn, London Road (at the 
junction with Fawkham 
Road) are willing to 
accommodate a polling 
station in their Function 
Room. Access will be from 
the car park and a ramp will 
be provided to assist 
electors with disabilities, if 
appropriate. 

1 Electorate warrants 
only one station 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 22



 

19 

Polling district 

(& letters) 

Electorate -

August 

2011 

Proposed polling place 

Reason for choice (all are 

existing unless shown as 

“new”) 

No. of 

polling 

stations 

Reason 

West Kingsdown – 
Hever (CV) 

2718 The Pavilion, London Road, 
West Kingsdown 

In use since 1999. Not well 
located, being on the 
opposite side of the A20 
from most voters, but 
provides a solution after 
many years of poor 
provision for this polling 
district. We provide 
temporary outside lighting. 

1 Although electorate 
warrants it, there is 
insufficient space to 
provide 2 polling 
stations. Instead, 
extra polling staff are 
appointed to share 
out duties. Due to a 
potential triple poll in 
2011, a second 
polling station was 
set up in the adjacent 
Library for the 
evening period of 
polling and this is a 
solution in similar 
future circumstances. 

 

A
genda Item

 2

P
age 23



 

20 

 

 A
genda Item

 2

P
age 24



 

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

Electoral Arrangements Committee – 27th March 2012 

Report of the: Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Corporate Resources 

Status: For Decision 

Key Decision: Yes. 

Parish council boundaries and electoral arrangements are 

subject to change at the completion of this review. 

Executive Summary: The commencement of the community governance review on 30th 

November 2011 invited submissions from interested persons up to the deadline of 24th 

February 2012. Members of the Electoral Arrangements Committee are requested to 

consider all the submissions and to make draft recommendations. 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Mrs Bracken 

Head of Service Head of Legal – Mrs Christine Nuttall 

Recommendation to Electoral Arrangements Committee: 

(a) that the recommendations in appendix 1 be approved. 

Reason for recommendations: The District Council is responsible for determining 
submissions made in consequence of a community governance review. 

Introduction 

1 At the meeting of the Electoral Arrangements Committee on 27th October 2011 it 

was recommended that a community governance review be undertaken in respect 

of the whole of the Sevenoaks District Council area; Council ratified this 

Committee’s decision. A timetable and terms of reference were agreed. The 

District Council takes the view that it is for local people or local groups to suggest 

changes to the existing parish set-up. The District Council does not initiate 

changes but must, ultimately, decide upon any conflicting proposals. The District 

Council places great store upon proposals having the fullest backing of the local 

community and neighbouring parishes that may be affected.  

2 The review commenced on 30th November 2011 with the publication of notices, a 

news release, an item on the District Council’s website, a letter (and submission 

form) to parish councils and to known community groups (New Ash Green Village 

Association, Badgers Mount Residents Association and Well Hill Residents 

Association), a letter to elected representatives and a letter to Kent County 

Council. The timetable approved at the previous Electoral Arrangements 

Committee envisaged the publication of draft recommendations on 11th April 

Agenda Item 3

Page 25



 

 

2012. This timetable had already been altered to take into account the 

Government’s decision to postpone the inaugural elections of Police and Crime 

Commissioners (PCC) from May 2012 to November 2012. In addition, the 

Electoral Services Section (responsible for the conduct of this review) has had to 

deal with four by-elections, always unforeseen, over the last three months and now 

the Government has further decided to bring forward the start of the annual 

canvass for the register of electors from late August to late June so as to publish a 

revised register just prior to the PCC elections. It is therefore recommended that 

the timetable be amended to the following (recommendation (a) in appendix 1): 

Publication of the 

District Council’s draft proposals  Mid May 2012 

Consultation period concludes  End July 2012 

Preparation of final proposals 

followed by meeting of 

Electoral Arrangements Committee Late August/early September 2012 

Full Council confirms final proposals September 2012 

The District Council publishes its 

recommendations    Before end November 2012 (i.e. still 

      within one year of commencement of 

      review) 

Effective date of any changes to 

parish boundaries and electoral  

arrangements (next full parish  

council elections)    Thursday, 7th May 2015 (unchanged) 

3 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act (LGPIH) 2007 

devolved the power to take decisions relating to the creation, abolition or grouping 

of parishes, the boundaries of parishes and the electoral arrangements of parish 

councils from the Secretary of State and the Electoral Commission to principal 

councils. With effect from February 2008, district councils have had the 

responsibility for undertaking community governance reviews and have been able 

to decide whether to give effect to recommendations made in those reviews. In 

making that decision, councils need to take account of the views of local people 

and are required to have regard to guidance issued by the Department for 

Communities and Local Government and the Local Government Boundary 

Commission for England; this guidance was circulated with the notice of the review 

and extracts are at appendix 2. There is much advice that can be quoted in 

support or against a particular argument but Members will want to consider each 

submission on it’s merits in relation to the particular circumstances in the parish 

and not attempt to find an apparently consistent approach to all parishes. 

4 This report can only summarise the submissions received. Members will need to 

refer to the relevant appendices, as noted in the report, in order to appreciate the 

full picture. Electorate figures quoted throughout the report are as at 1st March 

2012 but these figures can change each month. Mileages quoted in the report are 

as a result of site visits. Changes in parish boundaries that affect the boundaries 

Agenda Item 3

Page 26



 

 

of District Council wards and/or Kent County Council electoral divisions will be 

referred to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England with a 

recommendation that the appropriate changes be made to those boundaries at 

the next relevant full elections (2015 in the case of District Council elections, 

2017 for Kent County Council elections). 

Actions 

5. No submissions have been received affecting the following parishes: 

Chiddingstone, Cowden, Edenbridge, Farningham, Fawkham, Halstead, Hever, 

Horton Kirby & South Darenth, Kemsing, and Knockholt. It is recommended that 
no change be made to the boundaries or electoral arrangements of these parishes 

(recommendation (b) in appendix 1). 

6. The following parish councils have responded to the review and have stated that 

they have no proposals for changes to their existing set-up: Chevening (not at 

present but may re-visit the matter later this year after the results are known of 

their Parish Plan Questionnaire), Chiddingstone, Dunton Green, Halstead, Hartley, 

Horton Kirby & South Darenth, Kemsing, Riverhead and Seal. 

Submissions Proposing Changes (in alphabetical order of parish) 

7. Ash-cum-Ridley (appendix 3) 

The Parish Council proposes to include the Milestone School and New Ash Green 

Sports Centre within it’s Parish so as to bring their office, situated on the site, into 

the Parish. Hartley Parish Council supports the proposal. Mr Peter Mayer of Hartley 

has no objection to the proposal. It is recommended that the Ash-cum-Ridley 
Parish Council proposal be adopted (recommendation (c) in appendix 1). The 

recommendation will affect the boundary between the District wards of Ash & New 

Ash Green and Hartley & Hodsoll Street (though no electors are affected). 

8. Brasted (see Westerham) 

9. Chevening (see Sevenoaks) 

10. Crockenhill (see Shoreham) 

11. Dunton Green (see Sevenoaks) 

12. Eynsford (appendix 4) 

The Parish Council proposes the transfer of the Austin Lodge Golf Course from 

Shoreham Parish as access is via Eynsford only. Shoreham Parish Council agrees 

that the Club House should transfer to Eynsford but would like to retain as much 

of the golf course as is currently in Shoreham Parish and is supported by the 

Shoreham Society. It would appear more sensible for the whole of the golf course 

and associated buildings to be in one parish and, as access is from Eynsford 

Parish only, it is recommended that the Eynsford Parish Council proposal be 
adopted (recommendation (d) in appendix 1). The recommendation will affect the 

boundary between the district wards of Eynsford and Otford & Shoreham (though 

no electors are affected). 

Agenda Item 3

Page 27



 

 

13. Hartley (appendix 5) 

Two proposals have been received advocating the division of the parish into 4 

wards, although the suggested break down is quite different, from Mr Mayer and 

Dr Roberts. Mrs Ivy Sharp also believes that consideration should be given to the 

warding of the Parish. The thrust of each submission is that serving parish 

councillors live, in the main, across the middle of the Parish and therefore do not 

represent the Parish as a whole. By having smaller areas (wards) for councillors to 

represent, electors would be better served. The conduct of elections is also 

highlighted, in particular the size of the ballot paper and the cost of by-elections 

for the whole parish. 

14. Hartley Parish Council, in it’s response, opposes the warding proposals believing 

that electors are best served by councillors representing the whole of the parish. 

Electorally, Hartley is not the only parish of 13 members elected as a whole and 

whilst it is true that long ballot papers can be difficult to handle it is merely a part 

of the administrative process that has to be dealt with. The cost of running 4 

separate ward elections would be greater than for one whole parish election. It is 

recommended that no change be made to the electoral arrangements of Hartley 

Parish (recommendation (e) in appendix 1). 

15. Hextable (appendix 6) 

The Parish Council proposes the transfer of those properties in Lower Road, 

Hextable currently situated in Swanley Parish. Swanley Town Council has 

submitted the same proposal. Both are of the view that it is sensible for all the 

properties in Lower Road to be in Hextable Parish and avoid issues, for example, 

regarding the completion of road works. It is recommended that the proposals of 
Hextable Parish Council and Swanley Town Council be adopted (recommendation 

(f) in appendix 1). The recommendation will affect the boundary between the 

district wards of Hextable and Swanley Christchurch & Swanley Village and the 

County electoral divisions of Swanley and Darent Valley; 4 electors will transfer. 

16. There is support from Mr & Mrs Thomas of Hextable for the continuance of 

Hextable Parish in it’s present form. 

17. Leigh (appendix 7) 

Submissions have been made by Mr & Mrs Cooper and Mr & Mrs Larby for their 

properties to transfer into Penshurst Parish. They feel they have a greater affinity 

with Penshurst rather than Leigh. Penshurst Parish Council agreed to the proposal 

on the grounds of the geography (the properties are closer to the village of 

Penshurst than they are to the village of Leigh) and the families’ involvement in 

Penshurst activities. Leigh Parish Council do not support the proposal believing 

the current boundary to be historic. 

18. Successive reviews have changed historic boundaries in order to meet present 

circumstances and those reviews have also considered requests from individuals 

to transfer properties between parishes. The proposal appears to be made on 

appropriate grounds so, notwithstanding the opposition of Leigh Parish Council, it 

is recommended that the two properties North Lodge, Redleaf and Woodside 

Kennels transfer from Leigh Parish to Penshurst Parish (recommendation (g) in 

Agenda Item 3

Page 28



 

 

appendix 1). The recommendation will affect the boundary between the district 

wards of Leigh & Chiddingstone Causeway and Penshurst, Fordcombe & 

Chiddingstone; 6 electors will transfer. 

19. Otford (appendix 8 - see also Sevenoaks) 

The Parish Council proposes a re-alignment of the parish boundary with Shoreham 

Parish in Row Dow Lane to ensure that the curtilages of 3 properties (Stursdon 

Farm, Mount Farm and Mount Farm Cottage) fall within one parish rather than 

two. Shoreham Parish Council have submitted the same proposal which is 

supported by the Shoreham Society. It is recommended that the proposals of 
Otford Parish Council and Shoreham Parish Council be adopted (recommendation 

(h) in appendix 1). 

20. Otford Parish Council has also proposed to include the whole of the hamlet of 

Twitton in Otford Parish, thereby transferring properties (containing 12 electors) 

from Shoreham Parish. Shoreham Parish Council is also proposing that Twitton be 

included in a single parish and that should be Shoreham Parish (transferring 19 

electors from Otford Parish). The Shoreham Society supports the Shoreham Parish 

Council proposal. Otford Parish Council contends that Twitton is nearer to Otford 

village (0.8 miles by road) than it is to Shoreham village (1.6 miles by road) and 

that placing the whole of Twitton in one parish would facilitate planning 

consultations. A survey of the affected residents by Otford Parish Council seems to 

show more support for the option of placing Twitton wholly within Otford Parish 

rather than in Shoreham Parish. In a later response, Shoreham Parish Council 

believes the residents of Twitton should decide the issue. Recommendation: 

Members’ instructions are sought (recommendation (i) in appendix 1). 

21. Penshurst (appendix 9 - see also Leigh) 

In a number of submissions it has been stated or implied that parish councillors 

for the Fordcombe ward have not been elected because there was no contest in 

the ward at the last parish council elections in May 2011. The four parish 

councillors concerned were elected unopposed and the inference that the 

decisions of these parish councillors is less valid is not admissible as an 

argument. There have been occasions in the past when the Fordcombe ward has 

been contested and the Penshurst ward has not. Similar situations regularly occur 

throughout the Sevenoaks District at both parish and district elections. 

The many submissions made may be categorised into three proposals: 

a) the creation of separate parishes for Fordcombe (currently a ward of 

Penshurst Parish) and Penshurst (currently also a ward of the Parish), submitted 

by around 20 persons, including some present parish councillors, and opposed by 

around the same number of persons. A letter has also been received from the 

Clerk to Penshurst Parish Council in response to the content of some submissions; 

b) retain the present wards but limit parish councillors’ decision making on 

matters relating to the ward they represent unless the matter is material to the 

Parish as a whole, submitted by Martin Barraud and Robert Rees (and supported 

separately by Mr Rees), supplemented by a proposal from Deborah Rees for a 

system of weighted voting in specified circumstances; 

Agenda Item 3

Page 29



 

 

c) unward the Parish, submitted by Peter Lake, County Councillor for 

Sevenoaks South Electoral Division. 

22. Proposal 18a clearly is a reaction to the continuing debate on the issue of 

affordable housing in the village of Penshurst. It does not appear to emanate from 

a long standing difficulty of representation caused by separate warding of the two 

main communities of Fordcombe and Penshurst. Opposition to the proposal has 

equal weight and there is no evidence at present of any desire for a separate 

Fordcombe parish from Fordcombe residents. It must be a concern that, however 

contentious the issue of affordable housing, the proposal seeks to break a 

seemingly strong relationship over a single issue. 

23. The essence of proposal 18b is that issues solely affecting either the Fordcombe 

or Penshurst wards of the Parish should be determined only by the parish 

councillors representing those wards. This proposal also emanates from the 

affordable housing debate but is to be applied to any future issue specific to one 

or other village: it is surely a recipe for disharmony. Weighted voting would be 

difficult to administer and is also likely to create friction. The Kent Association of 

Local Councils has advised, at our request, the following: 

“The Parish Councillors Guide by Paul Clayden helpfully states ‘where a 

parish is divided into wards, the Parish Councillors for each ward are elected in the 

same manner as Councillors are elected for a parish. The rules relating to the 

election of Councillors apply to each ward as if it were a parish. The parish 

councillors for all the wards will form only one parish council, and there will still be 

a parish meeting for the whole parish for the purpose other than the election of 

councillors.’ 

It follows that even in warded areas they are therefore elected to the body 

corporate: i.e. the Council as a whole. It is also a sensible observation that the 

members are bound in as individuals but as part of the body corporate by the 

Code of Conduct and this is also designed to ensure that there are no obvious 

conflicts of interest because of the issue of warding. In short: they are elected to 

the Council to serve the entire electorate. Members may well have greater connect 

(particularly in areas with more distinct or larger electorates); but this is also 

balanced out in the Code of Conduct. They are ultimately Councillors and not just 

ward members.” 

24. In the difficult circumstances pertaining, proposal 18c to unward the Parish 

appears to have merit. There are, of course, instances of parishes in the 

Sevenoaks District that favour non-warding almost regardless of their size so as to 

avoid the very situation confronting Penshurst Parish. It is recommended that the 

proposal for Penshurst Parish to be unwarded be adopted and to seek views 

specifically on a change of name from Penshurst Parish to Penshurst and 

Fordcombe Parish (recommendation (j) in appendix 1). 

25. Riverhead (see Sevenoaks) 

26. Seal (see Sevenoaks) 

27. Sevenoaks (appendix 10) 

Agenda Item 3

Page 30



 

 

 The Town Council proposes, in effect, a grouping of parishes so that certain 

amenities already provided by Sevenoaks Town Council to neighbouring parishes 

could be extended. The proposal, from the map provided, includes in the grouping 

the following parishes: Chevening, Dunton Green, part of Otford (south of the 

M26), Riverhead, Seal, Sevenoaks Weald and Sundridge with Ide Hill. (Whilst 

mention is made of Brasted, Kemsing and Shoreham Parishes in the submission, 

they do not appear to be part of the proposal.) 

28. Representations have been received from the parishes of Chevening, Dunton 

Green (twice, views endorsed by District Councillors Bayley and Brown), 

Edenbridge, Kemsing, Otford, Riverhead, Seal (twice) Sevenoaks Weald and 

Sundridge with Ide Hill (a further response is expected) and all are opposed for a 

variety of reasons as are the following persons for similar and additional reasons: 

G W Taylor (Seal), Mrs M Miles (Riverhead), Mr J Brown (Riverhead), Mr T & Mrs D 

Harrison (Riverhead) and Mr C Ward (Otford). The proposal would clearly have a 

far reaching effect upon the governance of a large proportion of the Sevenoaks 

District and it must be expected to have fulsome support from the affected local 

communities and their representatives; the proposal does not have this support. It 

is recommended that the proposal of Sevenoaks Town Council is not adopted (and 

therefore the boundaries and electoral arrangements of the Parishes of 

Chevening, Dunton Green, Riverhead, Seal, Sevenoaks Weald and Sundridge with 

Ide Hill be unchanged) (recommendation (k) in appendix 1). 

29. Sevenoaks Weald (see Sevenoaks) 

30. Shoreham (appendix 11) 

 The Parish Council has submitted a number of proposals whilst a number have 

been submitted by other Parishes and Residents Associations affecting Shoreham 

Parish. Proposals put forward by Eynsford and Otford Parish Councils have been 

considered in paragraphs 12,19 and 20. 

31. Shoreham Parish Council, supported by the Shoreham Society, has proposed a 

change to the parish boundary in the vicinity of Well Hill with Crockenhill Parish 

who, whilst not averse to the change in principle, did request a more detailed 

consideration of the issue which has not been taken up. In view of the lack of any 

formal discussion between the two Parish Councils, it is recommended that this 

proposal of Shoreham Parish Council is not adopted (recommendation (l) in 

appendix 1). 

32. Shoreham Parish Council, again supported by the Shoreham Society, further 

proposes that the properties in East Hill Road (a cul-de-sac), currently situated in 

West Kingsdown Parish (272 electors), be transferred into Shoreham Parish to 

join the properties already situated in Shoreham. Shoreham Parish Council 

believes that better local services can be provided to all residents if the road is 

wholly situated in one parish. 

33. West Kingsdown Parish Council has proposed the reverse of the Shoreham Parish 

Council proposal, suggesting the transfer of the East Hill Road properties currently 

in Shoreham Parish (48 electors) into West Kingsdown Parish. Whilst no reason is 

given by West Kingsdown Parish Council for the proposal, they do not consider the 

Shoreham Parish Council proposal to be a practical option as residents are nearer 

Agenda Item 3

Page 31



 

 

to the village of West Kingsdown than they are to the village of Shoreham (though 

measuring by the most direct road route from East Hill Road’s junction with Bower 

Lane and Goodbury Road, it is 3.3 miles to Shoreham High Street and 3.6 miles to 

the shops in Hever Road, West Kingsdown). 

34. The majority of East Hill Road itself is situated in West Kingsdown Parish and 

forms the East Hill ward of West Kingsdown Parish Council. Shoreham Parish 

Council does not say whether the same area or the whole of East Hill Road would 

form a separate ward of the Shoreham Parish so there is the prospect of those 

residents who currently have separate representation on a Parish Council ceasing 

to have this status. East Hill is isolated geographically, a similar position held by 

it’s neighbour Knatts Valley (also a ward of West Kingsdown Parish), so is a 

considerable distance from the centre of any village. At the previous review of 

parish boundaries in the late 1990s, West Kingsdown Parish Council submitted a 

similar proposal and then the District Council were of the opinion that the 

properties at the southern end of East Hill Road (in Shoreham Parish) did not form 

part of the same community as the northern end of the road (in West Kingsdown 

Parish) and therefore proposed no change to the parish boundary. In a later 

response, Shoreham Parish Council believes the residents of East Hill Road should 

decide the issue. Recommendation: Members’ instructions are sought 

(recommendation (m) in appendix 1). 

35. The Badgers Mount Residents Association has submitted a proposal for a 

separate parish of Badgers Mount (526 electors), supported by the Shoreham 

Society. There has been previous debate regarding the formation of a separate 

parish for Badgers Mount and the Residents Association has now formulated this 

specific proposal from amongst three possible options. The geographic position of 

Badgers Mount means that it’s residents will be unlikely to look south for amenity 

provision. The Residents Association gives it’s reasons why it does not favour 

merging with it’s nearest neighbour Halstead. The submission by the Shoreham 

Society gives a similar picture. 

36. At it’s meeting on 1st February 2012, Shoreham Parish Council debated the 

motion that the Parish should be split into three separate parishes: Badgers 

Mount, Shoreham and Well Hill. The motion was defeated. Recommendation: 

Members’ instructions are sought (recommendation (n) in appendix 1). 

37. The Well Hill Residents Association has submitted a proposal for a separate parish 

of Well Hill (215 electors), supported by the Shoreham Society. This is the second 

time the Well Hill Residents Association has made this request and has re-

submitted it’s 2006 document along with the report of the Shoreham Parish 

Council working group that was convened to discuss community governance. Well 

Hill is a small community some distance from the village of Shoreham or any other 

village in the Sevenoaks District. It’s residents look more towards the north and 

communities in London (this review cannot recommend any changes to principal 

authority boundaries, i.e. Sevenoaks District and the London Borough of Bromley) 

than to the south and Shoreham. The submission by the Shoreham Society gives a 

similar picture. 

38. There have been three submissions from Well Hill residents: Diane Wisdom, Jill 

Eldridge, Jessica Reid who support, oppose and are unsure respectively: they do 

highlight the pros and cons of a separate Well Hill parish. The following is an 

Agenda Item 3

Page 32



 

 

extract from the minutes of the June 2006 meeting of the Electoral Arrangements 

Committee: 

“The Chairman invited Well Hill Residents’ Association to address Member’s 

concerns and return at a later date if the following issues could be addressed:  

1. The degree of support amongst Well Hill electors 

2. The numbers of electors subscribing to the WHRA 

3. A financial strategy/business plan drawn up to demonstrate viability of 
a new Parish Council” 

The new submission still relies on the 2006 document and doesn’t appear to have 

addressed the issues raised by the District Council in 2006. 

39. At it’s meeting on 1st February 2012, Shoreham Parish Council debated the 

motion that the Parish should be split into three separate parishes: Badgers 

Mount, Shoreham and Well Hill. The motion was defeated. Recommendation: 

Members’ instructions are sought (recommendation (o) in appendix 1). 

40. The submission from the Shoreham Society proposes the creation of a new parish 

of Shoreham (887 electors) without the Badgers Mount and Well Hill wards (and 

including the areas proposed in Shoreham Parish Council’s submission 

considered in paragraphs 30-34). The Society contends that the three 

communities of Shoreham, Badgers Mount and Well Hill have a clear sense of 

their own independent identities and little affinity with one another. 

41. At it’s meeting on 1st February 2012, Shoreham Parish Council debated the 

motion that the Parish should be split into three separate parishes: Badgers 

Mount, Shoreham and Well Hill. The motion was defeated. Recommendation: 

Members’ instructions are sought (recommendation (p) in appendix 1). 

42. Shoreham Parish Council also propose a reduction from 6 to 5 of parish 

councillors elected for the Shoreham ward, so as to more fairly represent the 

number of electors in each of the three wards making up the Parish Council. The 

electorate of Shoreham ward is 887 (6 parish councillors presently, a 

councillor/elector ratio of 1:148), Badgers Mount is 526 (3 and 1:175) and Well 

Hill is 215 (1 1:215). 5 councillors for the Shoreham ward gives a ratio of 1:177 

for that ward. If Members are minded to retain Shoreham Parish in it’s present 

warded form then it is recommended that the number of parish councillors for 

Shoreham ward be reduced from 6 to 5 (recommendation (q) in appendix 1). 

43. Sundridge with Ide Hill (appendix 12 - see Sevenoaks) 

 The Parish Council has written to the District Council but has no specific proposals 

for changes to parish boundaries or electoral arrangements. 

44. Swanley 

 Swanley Town Council has submitted a proposal that has been considered under 

paragraph 15 of this report. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 33



 

 

45. Westerham (appendix 13) 

 The Parish Council proposes the transfer of High View Cottage from Brasted Parish 

as the only access to the property is from Westerham Parish. There is support 

from Brasted Parish Council and from Lord Astor of Hever. It is recommended that 

the Westerham Parish Council proposal be adopted (recommendation (r) in 

appendix 1). The recommendation will affect the boundary between the district 

wards of Westerham & Crockham Hill and Brasted, Chevening & Sundridge; 2 

electors will transfer. 

46. West Kingsdown 

 West Kingsdown Parish Council has submitted a proposal that has been 

considered under paragraphs 32-34 of this report. 

Key Implications 

Financial 

There are no cost implications for the District Council in conducting a community 

governance review apart from staff resources. 

Community Impact and Outcomes 

The District Council believes that parish councils play an important role in terms of 

community empowerment at the local level and is keen to ensure that parish governance 

in the Sevenoaks District continues to be robust, representative and enabled to meet the 

challenges ahead. Government guidance states that “Ultimately, the recommendations 

made in a community governance review ought to bring about improved community 

engagement, more cohesive communities, better local democracy and result in more 

effective and convenient delivery of local services.” 

Legal, Human Rights etc. 

There are no legal or human rights implications in this report. 

Resource (non-financial) 

Staff input has been required to co-ordinate submissions and present them to Members 

at this meeting of the Electoral Arrangements Committee. 

Conclusions 

In accordance with Government guidance, a community governance review is due. There 

is an opportunity to conduct a review before the next scheduled major election (Police 

and Crime Commissioners on 15th November 2012) and plenty of time to implement the 

outcome ahead of the next full parish council elections in 2015. 

Risk Assessment Statement 

District Councils are expected to carry out community governance reviews every 10-15 

years. If the opportunity is not taken now, staff resources may not be available until 

2018, the next year of no scheduled elections. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 34



 

 

Background Papers: Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 

Act 2007 

The Local Government Act 1972 

Guidance on community governance reviews 

(published jointly by the Department for 

Communities and Local Government and the Local 

Government Boundary Commission for England) – 

April 2008 

Contact Officer(s): Ian Bigwood – ext. no.7242 

Dr. Pav Ramewal 

Corporate Resources Director 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 35



 

 

Appendix 1 

Recommendations: 

(a) that a revised timetable be approved; 

(b) that the boundaries and electoral arrangements of the Parishes of 
Chiddingstone, Cowden, Edenbridge, Farningham, Fawkham, Halstead, Hever, 
Horton Kirby & South Darenth, Kemsing and Knockholt be unchanged; 

(c) that the Ash-cum-Ridley Parish Council proposal be adopted; 

(d) that the Eynsford Parish Council proposal be adopted; 

(e) that no change be made to the electoral arrangements of Hartley Parish; 

(f) that the proposals of Hextable Parish Council and Swanley Town Council be 
adopted; 

(g) that the two properties North Lodge, Redleaf and Woodside Kennels transfer 
from Leigh Parish to Penshurst Parish; 

(h) that the proposals of Otford Parish Council and Shoreham Parish Council in 
respect of Row Dow Lane be adopted; 

(i) that Members’ instructions are sought on the counter proposals of Otford 
Parish Council and Shoreham Parish Council in the vicinity of Twitton; 

(j) that the proposal for Penshurst Parish to be unwarded be adopted and to seek 
views specifically on a change of name from Penshurst Parish to Penshurst and 
Fordcombe Parish; 

(k) that the proposal of Sevenoaks Town Council is not adopted; 

(l) that the proposal of Shoreham Parish Council in the vicinity of Well Hill is not 
adopted; 

(m) that Members’ instructions are sought on the counter proposals of Shoreham 
Parish Council and West Kingsdown Parish Council in the vicinity of East Hill; 

(n) that Members’ instructions are sought on the proposal by the Badgers Mount 
Residents Association to form a separate parish of Badgers Mount; 

(o) that Members’ instructions are sought on the proposal by the Well Hill 
Residents Association to form a separate parish of Well Hill; 

(p) that Members’ instructions are sought on the proposal by the Shoreham 
Society to form a separate parish of Shoreham (without Badgers Mount and Well 
Hill); 

(q) that (provided Members recommend the retention of the three wards of 
Shoreham Parish) the proposal by Shoreham Parish Council to reduce the number of 
parish councillors representing Shoreham ward from 6 to 5 be adopted; and 

Agenda Item 3

Page 36



 

 

(r) that the Westerham Parish Council proposal be adopted. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 37



 

 

Appendix 2 

Extracts from the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews 

Defining a parish 

49. Parish councils continue to have two main roles: community representation 
and local administration. For both purposes it is desirable that a parish 
should reflect a distinctive and recognisable community of place, with its 
own sense of identity. The views of local communities and inhabitants are 
of central importance. 
50. The identification of a community is not a precise or rigid matter. The 
pattern of daily life in each of the existing communities, the local centres 
for education and child care, shopping, community activities, worship, 
leisure pursuits, transport facilities and means of communication generally 
will have an influence. However, the focus of people’s day-to-day activities 
may not be reflected in their feeling of community identity. For instance, 
historic loyalty may be to a town but the local community of interest and 
social focus may lie within a part of the town with its own separate identity. 
 
Criteria for undertaking a community governance review 

51. Section 93 of the 2007 Act requires principal councils to ensure that 
community governance within the area under review will be: 

• reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that area; 
and 
• is effective and convenient. 

52. When considering the criteria identified in the 2007 Act, principal councils 
should take into account a number of influential factors, including: 

• the impact of community governance arrangements on community 
cohesion; and 
• the size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish. 

53. In considering this guidance, the impact on community cohesion is linked 
specifically to the identities and interests of local communities. Size, 
population and boundaries are linked to both but perhaps more specifically 
to community governance being effective and convenient. 
 
The identities and interests of local communities 

54. Parish councils have an important role to play in the development of their 
local communities. Local communities range in size, as well as in a variety of 
other ways. Communities and Local Government is working to help people 
and local agencies create cohesive, attractive and economically vibrant 
local communities. The aim for communities across the country is for 
them to be capable of fulfilling their own potential and overcoming their 
own difficulties, including community conflict, extremism, deprivation 
and disadvantage. Communities need to be empowered to respond to 
challenging economic, social, and cultural trends, and to demographic 
change. 
55. Parish councils can contribute to the creation of successful communities 
by influencing the quality of planning and design of public spaces and the 
built environment, as well as improving the management and maintenance 
of such amenities. Neighbourhood renewal is an important factor to 
improve the quality of life for those living in the most disadvantaged 

Agenda Item 3

Page 38



 

 

areas. Parish councils can be well placed to judge what is needed to 
build cohesion. Other factors such as social exclusion and deprivation 
may be specific issues in certain areas, and respect is fundamental to the 
functioning of all places and communities. The Government remains 
committed to civil renewal, and empowering citizens to work with public 
bodies, including parish councils, to influence public decisions. 
56. ‘Place’ matters in considering community governance and is a factor 
in deciding whether or not to set up a parish. Communities and Local 
Government’s vision is of prosperous and cohesive communities which 
offer a safe, healthy and sustainable environment. One aspect of that is 
strong and accountable local government and leadership. Parish councils 
can perform a central role in community leadership. Depending on the 
issue, sometimes they will want to take the lead locally, whilst at other 
times they may act as an important stakeholder or in partnership with 
others. In either case, parish councils will want to work effectively with 
partners to undertake the role of ‘place-shaping’, and be responsive to the 
challenges and opportunities of their area in a co-ordinated way. 
57. It is clear that how people perceive where they live - their neighbourhoods - 
is significant in considering the identities and interests of local communities 
and depends on a range of circumstances, often best defined by local 
residents. Some of the factors which help define neighbourhoods are: 
the geography of an area, the make-up of the local community, sense of 
identity, and whether people live in a rural, suburban, or urban areas. 
58. Parishes in many cases may be able to meet the concept of 
neighbourhoods in an area. Parishes should reflect distinctive and 
recognisable communities of interest, with their own sense of identity. Like 
neighbourhoods, the feeling of local community and the wishes of local 
inhabitants are the primary considerations. 
59. Today, there may well be a variety of different communities of interest 
within a parish; for example, representing age, gender, ethnicity, faith or 
life-style groups. There are other communities with say specific interests 
in schools, hospitals or in leisure pursuits. Any number of communities 
of interest may flourish in a parish but they do not necessarily centre on a 
specific area or help to define it. 
60. Building a sense of local identity may make an important contribution 
to cohesion where a local area is facing challenges arising from rapid 
demographic change. In considering the criteria, community governance 
reviews need to home in on communities as offering a sense of place and 
of local identity for all residents. 
 
Effective and convenient local government 

61. The Government believes that the effectiveness and convenience of local 
government is best understood in the context of a local authority’s ability 
to deliver quality services economically and efficiently, and give users of 
services a democratic voice in the decisions that affect them. 
62. Local communities should have access to good quality local services, 
ideally in one place. A parish council may be well placed to do this. With 
local parish and town councils in mind, effective and convenient local 
government essentially means that such councils should be viable in terms 
of providing at least some local services, and if they are to be convenient 

Agenda Item 3

Page 39



 

 

they need to be easy to reach and accessible to local people. 
63. In responding to the requirement for effective and convenient local 
government, some parish councils are keen, and have the capacity to take 
on more in the provision of services. However, it is recognised that not 
all are in position to do so. The 2007 Act provides a new power of weIl-being 
to those parish councils who want to take on more, giving them 
additional powers to enable them to promote the social, economic and 
environmental well being of their areas. Nevertheless, certain conditions 
must be met by individual parish councils before this power is extended to 
them. 
64. Wider initiatives such as the Quality Parish Scheme and charters agreed 
between parish councils and principal councils also help to give a greater 
understanding of securing effective and convenient local government. In 
such cases, parish and town councils which are well managed and good 
at representing local views will be in a better position to work closely with 
partner authorities to take more responsibility for shaping their area’s 
development and running its services. 
 
Factors for consideration 

65. When reviewing community governance arrangements, principal councils 
may wish to take into account a number of factors, to help inform their 
judgement against the statutory criteria. 
The impact on community cohesion of community governance arrangements 

66. Setting up parishes and parish councils clearly offers the opportunity to 
strengthen community engagement and participation, and generate 
a positive impact on community cohesion. In conducting community 
governance reviews (whether initiated by itself or triggered by a valid 
petition), the principal council should consider the impact on community 
cohesion when deciding whether or not to set up a parish council. 
67. Britain is a more diverse society –ethnically, religiously and culturally – than 
ever before. Today’s challenge is how best to draw on the benefits that 
migration and diversity bring while addressing the potential problems and 
risks to cohesion. Community cohesion is about recognising the impact 
of change and responding to it. This is a fundamental part of the place shaping 
agenda and puts local authorities at the heart of community 
building. 
68. In its response to the recommendations of the Commission on Integration 
and Cohesion the Government has defined community cohesion as what 
must happen in all communities to enable different groups of people to get 
on well together. A key contributor to community cohesion is integration 
which is what must happen to enable new residents and existing residents 
to adjust to one another. 
69. The Government’s vision of an integrated and cohesive community is based 
on three foundations: 

• People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities 
• People knowing their rights and responsibilities 
• People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly 

70. And three key ways of living together: 
• A shared future vision and sense of belonging 
• A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, 

Agenda Item 3

Page 40



 

 

alongside a recognition of the value of diversity 
• Strong and positive relationships between people from different 
backgrounds. 

71. The Commission on Integration and Cohesion’s report, Our Shared 
Future, is clear that communities have expert knowledge about their own 
circumstances and that actions at the local level contribute to achieving 
integration and cohesion, with local authorities well placed to identify any 
pressures. The Commission reports that policy makers and practitioners see 
civic participation as a key way of building integration and cohesion – from 
ensuring people have a stake in the community, to facilitating mixing and 
engendering a common sense of purpose through shared activities. The 
Local Government White Paper’s proposals for stronger local leadership, 
greater resident participation in decisions and an enhanced role for 
community groups contribute to promoting cohesion. 
72. Community cohesion is about local communities where people should 
feel they have a stake in the society, and in the local area where they live by 
having the opportunity to influence decisions affecting their lives. This may 
include what type of community governance arrangements they want in 
their local area. 
73. The 2007 Act requires principal councils to have regard to the need to 
secure that community governance reflects the identity and interests of 
local communities; the impact on community cohesion is linked strongly 
to it. Cohesion issues are connected to the way people perceive how their 
local community is composed and what it represents, and the creation 
of parishes and parish councils may contribute to improving community 
cohesion. Community governance arrangements should reflect, and be 
sufficiently representative of, people living across the whole community 
and not just a discrete cross-section or small part of it. It would be difficult 
to think of a situation in which a principal council could make a decision to 
create a parish and a parish council which reflects community identities and 
interests in the area and at the same time threatens community cohesion. 
Principal councils should be able to decline to set up such community 
governance arrangements where they judged that to do so would not be 
in the interests of either the local community or surrounding communities, 
and where the effect would be likely to damage community cohesion. 
 
Parish warding 

156. Parish warding should be considered as part of a community governance 
review. Parish warding is the division of a parish into wards for the purpose 
of electing councillors. This includes the number and boundaries of any 
wards, the number of councillors to be elected for any ward and the names 
of wards. 
157. In considering whether or not a parish should be divided into wards, the 
legislation requires that consideration be given to whether: 

a) the number, or distribution of the local government electors for the 
parish would make a single election of councillors impracticable or 
inconvenient; and 
b) it is desirable that any area or areas of the parish should be separately 
represented. 

158. Accordingly, principal councils should consider not only the size of the 

Agenda Item 3

Page 41



 

 

electorate in the area but also the distribution of communities within it. The 
warding of parishes in largely rural areas that are based predominantly on 
a single centrally-located village may not be justified. Conversely, warding 
may be appropriate where the parish encompasses a number of villages 
with separate identities, a village with a large rural hinterland or where, on 
the edges of towns, there has been some urban overspill into the parish. 
However, each case should be considered on its merits, and on the basis of 
the information and evidence provided during the course of the review. 
159. There is likely to be a stronger case for the warding of urban parishes, 
unless they have particularly low electorates or are based on a particular 
locality. In urban areas community identity tends to focus on a locality, 
whether this be a housing estate, a shopping centre or community 
facilities. Each locality is likely to have its own sense of identity. Again, 
principal councils should consider each case on its merits having regard to 
information and evidence generated during the review. (See also under 
Chapter 3, paragraphs 54 to 60). 
 
The number and boundaries of parish wards 

160. In reaching conclusions on the boundaries between parish wards the 
principal council should take account of community identity and interests 
in the area, and consider whether any particular ties or linkages might be 
broken by the drawing of particular ward boundaries. Principal councils 
should seek views on such matters during the course of a review. They 
will, however, be mindful that proposals which are intended to reflect 
community identity and local linkages should be justified in terms of sound and 
demonstrable evidence of those identities and linkages. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 42



Agenda Item 3

Page 43



Agenda Item 3

Page 44



Agenda Item 3

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 47



Agenda Item 3

Page 48



Agenda Item 3

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 51



Agenda Item 3

Page 52



Agenda Item 3

Page 53



Agenda Item 3

Page 54



Agenda Item 3

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 57



Agenda Item 3

Page 58



Agenda Item 3

Page 59



Agenda Item 3

Page 60



Agenda Item 3

Page 61



Agenda Item 3

Page 62



Agenda Item 3

Page 63



Agenda Item 3

Page 64



Agenda Item 3

Page 65



Agenda Item 3

Page 66



Agenda Item 3

Page 67



Agenda Item 3

Page 68



Agenda Item 3

Page 69



Agenda Item 3

Page 70



Agenda Item 3

Page 71



Agenda Item 3

Page 72



Agenda Item 3

Page 73



Agenda Item 3

Page 74



Agenda Item 3

Page 75



Agenda Item 3

Page 76



Agenda Item 3

Page 77



Agenda Item 3

Page 78



Agenda Item 3

Page 79



Agenda Item 3

Page 80



Agenda Item 3

Page 81



Agenda Item 3

Page 82



Agenda Item 3

Page 83



Agenda Item 3

Page 84



Agenda Item 3

Page 85



Agenda Item 3

Page 86



Agenda Item 3

Page 87



Agenda Item 3

Page 88



Agenda Item 3

Page 89



Agenda Item 3

Page 90



Agenda Item 3

Page 91



Agenda Item 3

Page 92



Agenda Item 3

Page 93



Agenda Item 3

Page 94



Agenda Item 3

Page 95



Agenda Item 3

Page 96



Agenda Item 3

Page 97



Agenda Item 3

Page 98



Agenda Item 3

Page 99



Agenda Item 3

Page 100



Agenda Item 3

Page 101



Agenda Item 3

Page 102



Agenda Item 3

Page 103



Agenda Item 3

Page 104



Agenda Item 3

Page 105



Agenda Item 3

Page 106



Agenda Item 3

Page 107



Agenda Item 3

Page 108



Agenda Item 3

Page 109



Agenda Item 3

Page 110



Agenda Item 3

Page 111



Agenda Item 3

Page 112



Agenda Item 3

Page 113



Agenda Item 3

Page 114



Agenda Item 3

Page 115



Agenda Item 3

Page 116



Agenda Item 3

Page 117



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 119



Agenda Item 3

Page 120



Agenda Item 3

Page 121



Agenda Item 3

Page 122



Agenda Item 3

Page 123



Agenda Item 3

Page 124



Agenda Item 3

Page 125



Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 127



Agenda Item 3

Page 128



Agenda Item 3

Page 129



Agenda Item 3

Page 130



Agenda Item 3

Page 131



Agenda Item 3

Page 132



Agenda Item 3

Page 133



Agenda Item 3

Page 134



Agenda Item 3

Page 135



Agenda Item 3

Page 136



Agenda Item 3

Page 137



Agenda Item 3

Page 138



Agenda Item 3

Page 139



Agenda Item 3

Page 140



Agenda Item 3

Page 141



Agenda Item 3

Page 142



Agenda Item 3

Page 143



Agenda Item 3

Page 144



Agenda Item 3

Page 145



Agenda Item 3

Page 146



Agenda Item 3

Page 147



Agenda Item 3

Page 148



Agenda Item 3

Page 149



Agenda Item 3

Page 150



Agenda Item 3

Page 151



Agenda Item 3

Page 152



Agenda Item 3

Page 153



Page 154

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 155



Agenda Item 3

Page 156



Agenda Item 3

Page 157



Agenda Item 3

Page 158



Agenda Item 3

Page 159



Agenda Item 3

Page 160



Agenda Item 3

Page 161



Agenda Item 3

Page 162



Agenda Item 3

Page 163



Agenda Item 3

Page 164



Agenda Item 3

Page 165



Agenda Item 3

Page 166



Agenda Item 3

Page 167



Page 168

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 169



Agenda Item 3

Page 170



Agenda Item 3

Page 171



Agenda Item 3

Page 172



Agenda Item 3

Page 173



Agenda Item 3

Page 174



Agenda Item 3

Page 175



Agenda Item 3

Page 176



Agenda Item 3

Page 177



Agenda Item 3

Page 178



Agenda Item 3

Page 179



Page 180

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 181



Agenda Item 3

Page 182



Agenda Item 3

Page 183



Agenda Item 3

Page 184



Agenda Item 3

Page 185



Agenda Item 3

Page 186



Agenda Item 3

Page 187



Agenda Item 3

Page 188



Agenda Item 3

Page 189



Agenda Item 3

Page 190



Agenda Item 3

Page 191



Agenda Item 3

Page 192



Agenda Item 3

Page 193



Agenda Item 3

Page 194



Agenda Item 3

Page 195



Agenda Item 3

Page 196



Agenda Item 3

Page 197



Agenda Item 3

Page 198



Agenda Item 3

Page 199



Agenda Item 3

Page 200



Agenda Item 3

Page 201



Agenda Item 3

Page 202



Agenda Item 3

Page 203



Page 204

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 205



Page 206

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Page 207



Agenda Item 3

Page 208



Agenda Item 3

Page 209



Agenda Item 3

Page 210



Agenda Item 3

Page 211



Page 212

This page is intentionally left blank



 

POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES REVIEW 

Electoral Arrangements Committee – 27th March 2012 

Report of the: Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Corporate Resources 

Status: For Decision 

Executive Summary: 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Mrs Bracken 

Head of Service Head of Legal – Mrs Christine Nuttall 

Recommendation to Electoral Arrangements Committee 

(a) The Bull Beefeater & Swanley Premier Inn be used as the polling venue for the 

Birchwood polling district. 

Reason for Recommendation: this is the last outstanding item of the review of polling 

districts and polling places carried out in 2011. 

Introduction 

1. At the previous Electoral Arrangements Committee Councillor Mrs Hunter offered 

to contact the owners, Whitbreads, at a more senior level to see whether they 

might reconsider their opposition to the use of The Bull Beefeater & Swanley 

Premier Inn, London Road, Swanley as a polling venue. 

2. A site visit was arranged at which the Manager of the premises agreed to the use 

of the first floor training room as a polling station. Access would be through 

reception and via a lift or stairs and a short distance along a corridor. Whilst this is 

not an ideal layout for electors (polling venues rarely are), it was felt to be superior 

to recent venues because it was situated within the Birchwood polling district. 

3. Local Member Cllr Mrs Sargeant is fully supportive of the proposal whilst local 

Member Cllr Ball agrees that it is worth giving the venue a try in the absence of a 

better alternative. 

4. It is proposed to use the venue for the first time at the inaugural election of a 

Police & Crime Commissioner on 15th November and a review of it’s suitability will 

be carried out after the poll. 

Key Implications 

Financial 

Agenda Item 4

Page 213



 

The likely charge for the use of this venue is £120 which compares favourably with the 

costs of other polling venues. 

Community Impact and Outcomes 

The aim should be to provide a polling place for every polling district that is easily 

accessible to all electors, including those with disabilities. Whilst access is not ideal the 

new venue provides a better option for the majority of Birchwood electors. 

Legal, Human Rights etc. 

There are no legal or human rights implications in this report. 

Resource (non-financial) 

Staff input has been required to investigate alternative polling arrangements and will be 

required in order to keep polling arrangements under constant review. 

Value For Money and Asset Management 

Whenever there is a perceived lack of polling facilities within a polling district, 

suggestions are made by interested parties for the use of a temporary building. This 

involves the delivery and setting up of a “portacabin” containing furniture, ramp access, 

toilet facilities and a generator to provide electricity; there is also the security of these 

temporary structures to consider. Enquiries of neighbouring authorities indicate a cost of 

well over one thousand pounds for the use of each “portacabin”. It is important on cost 

grounds, therefore, to try to find alternative solutions. 

Conclusions 

5. There have been many reviews of polling arrangements over the years, often as a 

result of boundary changes or the implementation of policies, e.g. alternatives to schools 

and an increase in the provision of polling places to encourage turn-out. In between, a 

constant watch is kept on providing the best facilities available. 

Risk Assessment Statement 

• Legislation requires district councils to carry out four yearly reviews. 2011 was a 

review year and this report concludes the process. There appears to be no legal 

sanction if the deadline for completion of the review by the end of 2011 has not 

been met. In any event, polling venues are kept constantly under review 

regardless of when the four yearly review is held. 

• Section 18B of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (inserted by the 

Electoral Administration Act 2006) states 

“the authority must seek to ensure that all electors in a constituency in its 

area have such reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the 

circumstances; 

the authority must seek to ensure that so far as is reasonable and 

practicable every polling place for which it is responsible is accessible to 

electors who are disabled” 

Agenda Item 4

Page 214



 

Background Papers: Electoral Administration Act 2006 

Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 

(Parliamentary Elections) Regulations 2006 

Representation of the People Act 1983 

Electoral Commission Circular EC28/2007 

Contact Officer(s): Ian Bigwood – ext. no.7242 

Dr. Pav Ramewal 

Corporate Resources Director 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 215



Page 216

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 27 October 2011
	3 Community Governance Review
	Appendix 3 - Ash-cum-Ridley
	Appendix 4 - Eynsford
	Appendix 6 - Hextable  Swanley
	Appendix 5 - Hartley
	Appendix 7 - Leigh
	Appendix 8 - Otford
	Appendix 9 1 - Penshurst
	Appendix 9 2 - Penshurst
	Appendix 9 3 - Penshurst
	Appendix 9 4 - Penshurst
	Appendix 9 5 - Penshurst
	Appendix 10 - Sevenoaks
	Appendix 11 1 - Shoreham
	Appendix 11 2 - Shoreham (Badgers Mount)
	Appendix 11 3 - Shoreham (Well Hill)
	Appendix 11 4 - Shoreham (Shoreham)
	Appendix 12 - Sundridge with Ide Hill
	Appendix 13 - Westerham

	4 Polling Districts and Polling Places Review

